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TBDec 19, 2017

IJNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

17-20898-CR-COOKE/GOODMAN

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLO RIDA

M IAM I DIVISION

CA SE NO.

18 U.S.C. j 371
15 U.S.C. j 78m(b)(2),(5)
15 U.S.C. j 78ff(a)
18 U.S.C. j 2
17 C.F.R. j 240.13b2-1,-2
18 U.S.C. j 1349
18 U.S.C. j 1343
18 U.S.C. j 1348
18 U.S.C. j 981(a)(1)(C)

UNITED STATES OF AM ERICA,

V.

EDW ARD J. DIM ARIA,

Defendant.

/

INDICTM ENT

The Grand Jury charges that:

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

At a1l times relevant to this lndictment:

The Defendant. Related Entities. and lndividuals

Bankrate, lnc. (çtBankrate'') was a marketing and financial publishing company.

Bankrate aggregated and published inform ation related to various consum er financial products
,

including m ortgages, credit cards
, insurance, and autom obile loans.

Bankrate owned and operated a num ber of websites that allowed potential

custom ers to compare and shop for different financial prodtlcts. W hen a potential customer used

one of Bankrate's websites and showed interest in a particular financial product
, Bankrate passed
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the customer's inform ation along to the bank or financial services company that was offering the

produd . In exchange for providing information about the potential custom er to the company

offering the financial product, Bankrate received a payment from the company. Bankrate called

the information it sold about the potential customer a tflead.'' Bankrate sold m ortgage leads to

banks and mortgage originators,' insurance leads to regional and national insurance companies'
,

and credit card leads to various credit card originators.

Bankrate also generated revenue by selling financial inform ation, such as average

mortgage rates, directly to newspapers or other publishers, and through advertising on its wcbsites.

From 201 1 and continuing into 2014, Bankrate's principal executive offices and

corpol-ate headquarters w ere located in North Palm  Beach, Florida, within the Southern District of

Florida. Bankrate also m aintained offices in New York, New York, Denver, Colorado, and Austin,

Texas. Bartkrate employed approximately 450 people who worked in three primary divisions: (1)

a mortgage information business, referred to internally as E'Bankrate Core'''5 (2) ççBankrate

lnsurance,'' an insurance information business; and (3) ttBankrate Credit Cards,'' a credit card

inform ation business. Bankrate's m ortgage information business was prim arily located at

Bankrate's corporate headquarters in the Southel'n District of Florida.

5. Starting in or arotlnd June 20 1 1 , Bankrate's stock was traded publicly on the New

York Stock Exchange (çCNYSE''), a national securities exehange, and Bankrate was registered with

the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (t:SEC''), an agency of the United States,

pursuant to Section l2(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Bankrate's stock traded on the

NYSE under the ticker symbol EIRATE.'' Bankrate reported that it eam ed approximately $424

million in total revenue in 201 1, and approximately $457 million in total l-evenue in 2012. During

the same period, Bankrate's shares had a market capitalization of approximately $1 billion.
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6. From in or around 2006 through in or around September 2014
, the defendant

EDW ARD J. DIMARIA served as Bankrate's Chief Financial Officer (ttCFO'') and a Senior Vice

President. DIM ARIA was a certified public accountant ('çCPA''), and his principal office was

located in New York. As Bankrate's CFO, DIM ARIA was responsible for overseeing Bankrate's

books and records, and for signing and certifying that Bankrate's financial statem ents filed with

the SEC were truthful and accurate.

From  in or around September 2006 to in or around Septem ber 2014
, Hytmjin Lerner

senred as Bankrate's Vice President of Finance. Lerner's principal office was located at

Bankrate's corporate headquarters in the Southern District of Florida. As Vice President of

Finance, Lerner reported directly to DIM ARIA, and supervised other employees in the finance

department.

8. Bankrate Executive l was a high-ranking executive who worked at Bankrate's

offices in New York.

9. Bankrate Executive 2 was a Vice President in the finance departm ent who reported

directly to DIM ARIA and worked at Bankrate's oftices in New York.

Bankrate's Financial Reuulators and Auditors

The Securities and Exchance Com mission

10. The SEC was an ageney of the United States governm ent charged by law with

preselwing honest and efficient markets in securities. The federal securities law s
, regulations, and

rules were designed to ensure that the financial information of publicly traded com panies was

accurately recorded and disclosed to the investing public. Securities laws, as well as the SEC'S

regulations and rules for public companies, required that Bankrate and its diredors, officers, and

employees, am ong other things, m ake and keep books
, records, and accounts that accurately and
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fairly reflected the transactions and disposition of the company's assets
, and prohibited the

knowing and willful falsitication of Bankrate's books
, records, or accounts.

Bankrate was also required to file annual reports (ttSEC Forms 10-K'') and quarterly

reports (''SEC Fonns 10-Q'') with the SEC that contained tinancial statements that accurately and

fairly presented the financial condition of Bankrate, as well as other reports that contained

inform ation about Bankrate's m anagement
, Board of Directors, business operations, and

perfonnance. Through these reports, Bankrate diselosed its tinancial inform ation to the SEC
,

Bankrate's shareholders, and the investing public.

12. As CFO of Bankrate, DIM ARIA signed certifications that were filed with

Bankrate's SEC Fonns 10-K and SEC Forms 10-Q attesting, among other things, that (a) based on

his knowledge, Bankrate's reports fairly presented, in all material respects, the tinancial condition

of Banltrate; (b) he had disclosed any fraud, whether or not matedal, involving management or

other employees who had a signiticant role in Bankrate's internal controls over tinancial reporting
,
'

and (c) based on his knowtedge, Bankrate's reports did not contain any untrtte statement of a

m aterial fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statem ents
, in light of the

circum stances under which the statem ents were made, not m isleading.

ln addition to Bankrate's SEC Fonus l0-K and SEC Fon.ns l0-Q filed with the

SEC, Bankrate also disclosed its financial infonuation to shareholders and the investing public

through press releases, eanlings calls, and eanzings announcements.

Bankrate's Auditors

An auditor is an independent certified public accountant who examines the financial

Statem ents that a company's m anagem ent has prepared.Federal securities laws
, regulations, and
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nlles required that an independent auditor examine and report on the financial infonnation that

Bankrate provided to the SEC and the investing public.

From at least in or around 20l 1 and continuing through 2014
, a known public

accounting 514,14 (ttAccounting Finu A'') acted as the independent auditor of Bankrate's financial

statements. Accounting Firm A 's offices were located in the Southern Distlict of Florida
, in

M iami and Ft. Lauderdale, Florida, am ong other places. Accounting Firm A relied on DIM ARIA,

Lerner, and other Bankrate em ployees to provide tnlthful and accurate infonnation about

Bankrate's internal accounting practices and policies.

16. Accounting Firm A obtained information about Bankrate from DIM ARIA
, Lenwr,

and others tluough phone calls, meetings
, and via email. In addition, DIM ARIA, Lerner, and

other Bankrate employees provided written assurances and representations to Accounting Firm A

(''Management Representation Lettertsl'') that, among other things: (1) they had 'tmade available

. . . all gfjinancial records and related datai'' (2) they ttwere not aware of any information indicating

that an illegal act, or violations or possible violations of any regulations
, hagdl or may have

occurred, whether or not perceived to have a material effect on the interim financial statem entsi''

and (3) they had ''no knowledge of fraud or suspeded fraud affecting the Company involving (a)

Management, (b) Employees who have significant roles in internal control, or (c) Others where

the fraud could have a material effect on the interim financial statements
.'' DIM ARIA, Lerner,

and others addressed these M anagement Representation Letters to Accounting Firm A 's oftices

located in the Southern District of Florida.

Based in parton yepresentations m ade by DIM ARIA, Lelmer, and their co-

conspirators in M anagem ent Representation Letters
, and elsewhere, Accounting Firm A would

offer an opinion as to whether Bankrate's annual financial statem ents fairly presented
, in al1
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material respeds, Bankrate's financial position. Accounting Firm A 's opinion was signed on

behalf of Accounting Firm A 's offices located in the Southenz Distrid of Florida
, and the opinion

was filed contemporaneously with Bankrate's annual reports to the SEC.

Bankrate's Expense Accruals

Under the relevant accounting rules, on a quarterly and yearly basis, Bankrate was

required to m ake a good faith estimate of the costs to Bankrate associated with certain expenses
,

such as legal, m arketing, and accounting fees, and then reduce Bankrate's earnings by the am ount

of that estim ate. At Bankrate, the am ount of this estim ate was referred to as an ttexpense acerual''
.

Any increase in Barlkrate's expense accruals caused a decrease in earnings. Conversely, any

decrease in Bankrate's expense accruals caused an increase in earnings. DIM ARIA, Lerner, and

other Bankrate employees in the finance departm ent had the responsibility to decide when and

whether to increase or decrease Bankrate's expense accruals. Bankrate was required to provide its

quarterly and annual expense accrual calculations to Accounting Finn A.

Bankrate Publicized fçAdiusted EPS'' and RAdiusted EBITDA'' M etrics

19. ln addition to quarterly and annual reports that contained, am ong other things,

Bankrate's purported revenue, earnings pcr share (ttEPS'') and earnings before interest, taxes,

depreciation, amortization (ttEBITDA'') Bankrate also provided investors with %tadjusted''

earnings calculations which were purportedly adjusted to exclude, among other things, certain

identified expenses.

20. Bankrate would claim publicly that when the company reported ''Adjusted EPS''

and tûAdjusted EBITDA'' figures, it meant that Bankrate had adjusted these earnings metrics to

only exclude ttstock based compensation expense, offering and deal related expenses and

amortization expense.''
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21. ln addition to including adjusted eanzings figures in Bankrate's quarterly and

annual financial reports, Bankrate also published adjusted eanzings figures in regular press

releases, and Bankrate's management discussed adjusted earnings figures in calls with stock

market analysts and investors. ln Bankrate's press releases, Banltrate would describe the adjusted

eamings metlos, including Adjusted EPS and Adjusted EBITDA, as having been provided, in

part, tfto enhance investors' overall understanding of Bankrate's eurrent Gnancial perfonnance and

its prospects for the future.''

CO UNT 1

Conspiracy to M ake False Statem ents

to a Public Com pany's Accountants, and to

Falsify Books, Records, and Accounts of a Public Company

(18 U.S.C. j 371)

The General Allegations sedion of this lndictm ent is realleged and incorporated by

reference as though fully set forth herein.

From in or around at least 20l l , through in or around Septem ber 2014, in M iam i-

Dade, Broward, and Palm Beach Counties, in the Southern Distlict of Florida
, and elsewhere, the

defendant,

EDW ARD J. DIM ARIA,

did willfully, that is, with the intent to further the objeds of the conspiracy, and knowingly

com bine, conspire, and agree with other individuals known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to

com mit certain offenses against the United States, namely:

a. to knowingly and willfully, directly and indirectly: (a) make and cause to

be made m aterially false or misleading statements to Accounting Firm A, and om it to state
, and

cause another person to omit to state, any m aterial fact to Accounting Firm A necessary in order

to make statem ents m ade, in light of the circumstances under which sueh statem ents were m ade
,
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not misleading', and (b) take action to coerce, manipulate, mislead, and fraudulently influence

Accounting Firm A knowing that such action, if successful, could result in rendering Bankrate's

tinancial statements materially misleading
, in connection with Accounting Firm A 's review of

Bankrate's financial statem ents and preparation of Bankrate's quarterly and annual reports

requil-ed to be filed with the SEC, in violation of Title l 5
, United States Code, Section 78ff, and

Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Sections 240.13172-2(a) and 240.13b2-2(b),' and,

b. to knowingly and willfully falsify, and cause to be falsified, books, records,

and accounts required to, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly retlect the transactions and

dispositions of Bankrate, in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78m(b)(2),

78m(b)(5), and 78ff, and Title l7, Code of Federal Regulations, Sections 240. 13172-1 .

Purpose of the Conspiracv

3. The purpose of the conspiracy was for DIM ARIA
, Lerner, and their co-

conspirators to m islead Bankrate's independent auditors, shareholders, regulators, and the

investing public about Bankrate's true financial condition in order to: (a) maintain and increase

the market price of Bankrate's stock; and (b) unjustly enrich DIM AR'I A, Lerner, and their co-

conspirators tlu-ough the continued receipt of compensation, stock, and other benefits.

M anner and M eans of the Conspiracv

Overview of the Conspiracy

From in or around at least 201 1, through in or around September 2014
, DIM ARIA,

Lerner, and their co-conspirators agreed to (a) defraud Bankrate's shareholders and the investing

public, and (b) mislead Bankrate's independent auditors and regulators by making and causing

others to m ake false and misleading statements about Bankrate's financial condition. As described

below, DIM ARIA, Lerner, and their co-conspirators utilized a combination of m ethods to
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fraudulently manipulate Bankrate's publicly reported revenue and earnings. These m ethods

included maintaining ktcushion'' of unsupported and unnecessary expense accruals
,

m ischaracterizing certain of Bankrate's routine expenscs as ttdeal costs
,'' m aking unsupported

revenue and earnings adjustments, and lying to Bankrate's auditors and the investing public about

Bankrate's tnle financial condition.

5. DIM ARIA generally directed the fraudulent manipulation of Bankrate's financial

statements through interstate telephone calls and em ails to Lenwr and others at Bankrate's

colporate headquarters in the Southel'n District of Florida.

M anipulatinc Bankrate's Earnincs Throunh Cookie Jar or ç'Cushion'' Accounting

DIM ARIA, Lerner, and their co-conspirators used Bankrate's expense accruals to

fraudulently m anipulate Banklute's reported earnings through a prohibited accounting practice

sometimes known as cookie-jar accounting.

First, DIM ARIA, Lemer, and their co-conspirators would create a cookie jar of

unnecessary and unsupported expense accruals in quarters when they deem ed Bankrate's financial

perfonnance to be satisfactory. DIM ARIA, Lelmer
, and their co-conspirators kept track of the

cookie jar on a spreadsheet they referred to internally as the 'kcushion,'' or ''Ed's cushion.''

DIM ARIA, Lerner, and their co-conspirators would create the cookie jar or ifcushion'' either by

(a) refusing to reverse existing expense accruals that had become unsupported, or (b) creating new

or inflating existing expense accruals that were baseless. Bycreating such a cookie jar or

ltcushion'' of unnecessary expense accruals, DIM ARIA
, Lerner, and their co-conspirators lowered

Bankrate's eanzings in that period by fraudulently booking or m aintaining hundreds of thousands

of dollars in expenses that did not exist. DIM ARIA
, Lerner, and their co-conspirators maintained

the çEcushion'' spreadsheet at Bankrate's com orate headquartel-s in the Southern District of Florida.
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8. Second, in pedods when they deem ed Bankrate's finandal performance to be

unsatisfactory, DIMARIA, Lerner, and their co-conspirators used the cookiejar or tçcushion'' they

had created to fraudulently increase Bankrate's reported earnings by selectively reversing

hundreds of thousands of dollars in expense accruals off the ''cushion'' spreadsheet
.

9. For example, in or around April 2012, while Bankrate was preparing its financial

statements for the First Quarter, and after the ''cushion'' had been built up for use in later periods,

DIMARIA told Lenwr via an interstate wire that he ''needgedl all the accrual overage'' because he

t'needgedj to tune the ntlmbers up closer to $38 gmillion in reported ealmingsj.'' Lerner responded

by attaching an updated version of the ttcushion'' spreadsheet which showed that there was $ l .7

million in the cookie jar available to reverse and intlate Banltrate's earnings.A fter receiving the

ççcushion'' spreadsheet, DIM ARIA, Lerner, and their co-conspirators immediately reversed

approximately $530,000 in accruals that were identitied on the spreadsheet as ttcushion.'' In total,

before Bankrate filed its tinancial statements for the First Quarter of 2012, DIMARIA, Lerner,

and their co-conspirators reversed more than $ 1 million in expense accruals which they had

previously booked and identified as iicushion,'' and thereby caused Bankrate to fraudulently report

inflated ealmings to shareholders and the investing public.

Manipulatina Bankrate's Accnled Deal Costs Account and Publiclv Reported Adiusted Eanzings

l0. As described above, Bankrate represented to the investing public that when it

reported adjusted eamings figures, such as Adjusted EPS and Adjusted EBITDA, these tigures

were only adjusted by excluding certain expenses, which Bankrate identified as tEstock based

compensation expense, offering and deal related expenses and am ortization expense.'' Bankrate's

''accrued deal costs'' account was an account that purportedly tracked the non-routine expenses

which were excluded from Bankrate's Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EPS figures. ln reality,

10
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DIM ARIA, Lerner, and their co-conspirators used Bankrate's ''acertled deal costs'' account to

fraudulently increase Bankrate's publicly reported earnings and adjusted earnings figures.

First, DIM ARIA, Lerner, and their co-conspirators would direct Bankrate's

finance department to improperly book routine expenses, unrelated to deals, in the itaccrued deal

costs'' account. By intentionally adding routine expenses to the ttaccnled deal costs'' account
,

DIM ARIA, Lerner, and their co-conspirators caused m ore expenses to be excluded from

Bankrate's publicly reported adjusted earnings tigures than was diselosed to investors, and caused

Bankrate's publicly reportcd adjusted earnings figures to be fraudulently inflated.

l 2. Second, DIM ARIA, Lerner, and their co-conspirators hid hundreds of thousands

of dollars of tkcushion'' in Bankrate's ttaccrued deal costs'' account, and used the GGcushion'' in the

llaccrtled deal costs'' accountto fraudulently elim inate or reduce the impact of expenses on

Bankrate's reported earnings.

13. For example, on or about M arch 9,2012, DIM ARIA and Lerner received a

summary of invoices from Accounting Finn A . Upon receipt of the summ ary, which ineluded

outstanding audit fees that were unrelated to deals
, and knowing that DIM ARIA, Lerner, and their

co-conspirators had built up hundreds of thousands of dollars in ltcushion'' in Bankrate's kiaccrued

deal costs'' account, DIM ARIA sent the following instructions to Lelmer in an em ail: ttcharge

ALL THEIR BILLS TO ACCRUED DEAL COST - l DON 'T CARE IF THEY COM PLAIN ,

W E CAN SAY IT W AS A M ISTAKE.'' W hen DIM ARIA sent the em ail, Bankrate's finance

department had already booked more than $100,000 worth of Accounting Finu A's invoices to

Bankrate's ççacctued deal costs'' account, which allowed Bankrate to both fraudulently avoid

recognizing an expense in that quarter, and also inflate Bankrate's adjusted earnings. Later the

11
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same day, Lerner folw arded DIM ARIA'S email to Bankrate Executive 2 wliting ttAnother Ed

special. Don't send this em ail to Ed or m ention l told you''
.

M anipulating Bankrate's Financial Statements Throuch lmproper Revenue and Expense

Adiustments

14. Tluoughout 20l l and 2012, DIM ARIA, Lerner, and their co-conspirators

manipulated Bankrate's financial statements by making a series of false and misleading entries

and adjustments to Bankrate's revenue and expense accounts. Often these entries were made by

DIM ARIA, Lerner, and their co-conspirators as Bankrate was in the midst of preparing its

quarterly tinancial statements, and for the pup ose of m eeting or exceeding a revenue or earnings

target.

15. For example, in or around July 20l l in the m idst of preparing Bankrate's first

publicly reported quarterly financial statements, DIM ARIA stated that he ttm ay w ant to tune our

numbers to $30 gmillion) even ebitda.'' Lerner responded that it was ttno problem getting to $30

million,'' and suggested that they simply reduce a previously booked expense by $1 50,000 for no

other reason than ççto get there.'' DIMARIA responded to Lerner %%Ok go ahead - make itjust over

$30 Ilmillionl.''

l 6 . Similarly, in or around June 2012, DIM ARIA told Lerner to make an improper and

unsupported adjustment to a tinancial report that was being prepared for Bankrate's Board of

Directors, and to ttkeep it under the radar please.'' Lerner responded by agreeing to m ake the

adjustment.

1 7. ln addition, in or around July 2012, after reviewing Bankrate's quarterly financial

results, DIM ARIA, Lelmer, and their co-conspirators improperly booked hundreds of thousands

of dollars in revenue. After finding out about som e of the im proper entries, Bankrate Executive 2

wrote Lerner that he had just spoken to DIM ARIA, and ttl tY**ing knew he was going to do

12
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something like this. W e need to be very careful how this gets reflected or be able to have some

basis for the estimate to show gAccounting Firm Aj if they happen to figure it out.''

Also in or around July 2012, accounting personnel at Bankrate's Credit Card

division refused DIM ARIA'S order to book approximately $300,000 in additional revenue

because they believed it was improper ttnder the accounting rulcs.After leam ing from Lerner that

these lower-level accountants had refused to increase Bankrate's revenue by $300,000, DIM ARIA

responded to Lenwr t'gwje will book more, need a list of a1l reporting issues historically, we ean

book it on gBankrate's Mortgage divisionl.'' Thereafter, Lerner carried out DIM ARIA'S directive

and booked the $300,000 that the lower-level accountants in Bankrate's Credit Card division had

refused to book on Bankrate's M ortgage division books.

Concealing False and M isleading Entries from Bankrate's Auditors

19. First, because cookiejar or ttcushion'' accounting is prohibited under the accounting

rules, DIM ARIA directed Lerner and their co-conspirators to hide the existence and use of the

ttcushion'' spreadsheet from Bankrate's independent accountants, including Accounting Fil'm A .

For example, in or around February 20l l , Lerner sent an em ail to DIM ARIA and

others with the subject ttFirst cushion found by gAccounting Firm A1.'' In the email, Lerner

indicated that he had explained falsely the ''cushion'' to Accounting Firm A as being supported by

expected legal fees for which Bankrate had yet to receive a bill. Starting in or around 20l l , later

versions of the Stcushion'' spreadsheet sent and received by Lerner and his co-conspirators

contained an additional column titled G'gAccounting Firm A1 ldentifiedv'' which DIMARIA,

Lerner, and their co-conspirators used to keep track of tGcushion'' that had been discovered by

Accounting Firm A.

13
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21. ln or around M arch 20 1 l , after Lerner sent DIM ARIA a version of the 'teushion''

spreadsheet, DIM ARIA told Lerner that he was concerned that some of the com ments in a version

of the spreadsheet m ight alert Accounting Firm A that the expense accrtlals were unsupported and

in fact içcushionj'' and chastised Lerner that ççgpleople really have to start using their brains,

sometimes l really wonder. OK why not just write dl-ley gAccounting Firm A) - this entry is

cushion, please propose an adjusting entryr''' and that he t'really expectgedq this stuff to be managed

better.'' Lerner responded by assuring DIM ARIA that the ttschedule was never shared with

(Accounting Firm Aj'' and that it was 'tpurely an internal document.''

22. ln or around January 2012, Lerner and DIM ARIA received an updated analysis of

the çtcushion'' schedule which showed that Bankrate had approximately $ 1.5 million available in

the cookie jar. Shortly after receiving the analysis, DIM ARIA decided to reverse approximately

$800,000 in Eûcushion'' from Bankrate's itaccnled deal costs'' account, which left approximately

$700,000 in tlcushiort'' available for use in later periods. Lenwr then sent a version of the

spreadsheet to Accounting Firm A which made it appear that there were only $800,000 in

unsupported expense accruals in Bankrate's çtaccrued deals costs'' account, and that al1 $800,000

had been reversed. Approxim ately one week later, Lerner sent Bankrate Executive 2 an email with

the subject ''Ed's Cushion - Save this Email - Don't Share this with Anyone,'' and attached to the

email a spreadsheet itemizing the $700,000 in remaining ''cushion'' in Bankrate's t'accrbled deal

costs'' account that had been concealed from Accounting Firm A .

ln or around July 2012, Balzkrate Executive 2 em ailed Lerner that he believed

Accounting Firm A was going to ûûding us on accrued deal costs this tim e'' because lûthe am ount is

not supported since the balance is entirely cushion.'' To avoid revealing the existence of the

ttcushion'' that DIM ARIA , Lerner, and their co-conspirators m aintained
, Bankrate Executive 2

14
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told Lenwr he was 'tnot going to give gAccounting Firm A1 the accrual rollforward analysis and

see if they ask for it to try to avoid the issue.''

24. Second, DIM ARIA, Lerner, and their co-conspirators m ade false and misleading

representations to Accounting Firm A in written letters, em ails, and during conversations with

individual auditors.

For example, in or around October 201 1,DIM ARIA, Lerner and their co-

conspirators m isled Atxounting Fit'm A about the stl-ucture of Bankrate's M anagement Incentive

Plan ('tMlP''). Under the M1P schedule that had been approved by Bankrate's Board of Directors,

employee bonuses were calculated based on how each of Bankrate's three divisions perfonned

against their forecasted EBIDTA. To conceal from Accounting Finn A that Bankrate had adopted

a M lP schedule that was based on individualdivision perform ance, DIM ARIA and Lerner

directed their co-conspirators to create a fraudulent M 1P expense schedule to provide Accounting

Finu A.

26. And in or around M ay 20 l 2, and again in or around August 2012, DIM ARIA,

Lerner, and their co-conspirators falsely assured Accounting Finn A in connection with the

preparation of Bankrate's tinancial statements that, among other things, they: ( 1) had ttmade

available . . . all gtlinancial records and related datai'' (2) ççwere not aware of any information

indicating that an illegal act, or violations or possible violations of any regulations, hagdl or may

have occurred, whether or not perceived to have a m atelialeffect on the interim financial

statementsi'' and (3) had 'çno knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Company

involving (a) Management, (b) Employees who have significant roles in internal control, or (c)

Others where the fraud could have a m aterial effect on the interim financial statements.''

15
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Sellinc Bankrate Stock W hile Continuing to M islead Bankrate's Auditors And The Public About

Bankrate's Financial Condition

In or around July 2012, DIM ARIA and his co-conspirators learned that Bankrate's

tinancial results fol- the Third Quarter of 2012 would likely be lower than what analysts were

estimating because Bankrate's divisions were underperforming.

28. On or about July 27, 2012, DIM ARIA emailed Bankrate's investor relations

department and others with instnlctions to try and persuade the analysts following Bankrate's stock

to bring their estimates down for the Third Quarter to ''mid to upper $ l20 million gin revenuej.''

On or about July 31 ,2012, DIM ARIA emailed Bankrate's investor relations

departm ent reiterating his instructions to tl'y and persuade the analysts following Bankrate's stock

to bring their estimates for the Third Quarter down ç'but don't worry them.''

30. On or about August l , 2012, DIM ARIA learned from  Bankrate's investor

relations department that the analysts following Bankrate's stock were not going to lower their

estimates to ''mid to upper $ 120 million'' in revenue for the Third Quarter, and that the analysts

were instead going étto com e in the 1ow 130M M  range.''Bankrate's investor relations departm ent

further advised DIM ARIA that they could not ûûpush'' the analysts 'tm ore without getting them

worried.''

On or about August l , 2012, DIM ARIA emailed Bankrate Executive 1 writing

ti-l-ried to push hard to get gthe analystsl down in ()3 - most will be in the 1ow 1 30's gin revenuel

for ()3 1 think - we will see - too high but could not get it down further without spooking them.

Calls went well now l think m aybe we should have widened the range further on the downside to

give us m ore room, dam n. Oh wel1.''
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32. On or about August 9, August 10, and August 13, 2012, before Bankrate announced

its financial results for the Third Quarter of 201 2, DIMARIA sold a total of approximately 107, 177

shares of Bankrate stock, realizing gross proceeds of approximately $2,060,602.00.

On or about October 16, 2012, Bankrate held a preliminary earnings call with the

investing public in which DIM ARIA and Bankrate Executive 1 revealed that Bankrate's financial

results fol' the Third Quarter were well below analyst estimates. After releasing this news,

Bankrate's stock imm ediately dropped approxim ately 22 percent.

34. On or about Septem ber 15, 2014, Bankrate announced publicly for the first time

that the investing public could no longer rely on Bankrate's previously reported financial

statements, and that DIM ARIA was resigning as Bankrate's CFO. After releasing this news
,

Bankrate's stock immediately dropped approximately 14 percent.

OVERT ACTS

In furtherance of the conspiracy and to achieve its objeds and purpose, at least one of the

co-conspirators comm itted and caused to be com mitted, in the Southern Distrid of Florida
, and

elsewhere, the following overt acts, among others:

On or about M arch 5, 201 l , and im mediately after receiving a copy of the ttcushion''

spreadsheet, DIM ARIA wrote Lem er that he was concerned that Accounting Firm A m ight see

certain information on the spreadsheet.'ttpeople really have to start using their bl-ains, som etimes

1 really wonder. Ok why not just write il-ley gAceounting Finn A1 - This entry is cushion, please

propose an adjusting entry' I really expect this stuff to be managed better.'' Lenzer immediately

responded to DIM ARIA in a separate email, writing ûi-l-his schedule was never shared with

gAccounting Finn A1 nor any of the subsidiary schedules fl'om CC or NQ that has these comments.
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This is purely an intenzal docum ent thatis only shared between you, gtwo other Bankrate

employeesj, and myself.''

On or about June 29, 201 1, DIM ARIA and Lerner received a copy of the Vtcushion''

spreadsheet from a Bankrate employee that indicated for each individual excess accrual whether

or not Accounting Firm A had çEidentitied'' the accrual.

37. On or about October 24, 20l 1, DIM ARIA sent Accounting Finn A a misleading

analysis that DIM ARIA, Lerner, and their co-conspirators created to show Bankrate's purported

M lP bonus accrual estimate.

38. On or about November 14, 20l l , Bankrate Executive 1 wrote DIM ARIA

proposing to increase certain employee bonuses from $2000 to $2500 tûif we have room for it.''

DIM ARIA responded indicating it was ttno problem'' to increase the bonuses because ûtl have

money stashed in a lot of places.'' Bankrate Executive 1 then responded to DIM ARIA llcool.''

On or about January 27, 2012, Lerner sent an email to Accotlnting Firm A

containing a m isleading description of the activity in Bankrate's 'çaccrued deal costs'' account.

40. On or about February 6, 20 l2, Lenzer sent an em ail to another Bankrate em ployee

attaching the ''cushion'' spreadsheet with the subject tçEd's Cushion - Save this Email - Don't

Share this with Anyone.''

On or about M arch 2, 2012, DIM ARIA sent Lerner an em ail asking to review ''all

our accruals.'' Lerner responded by asking t'You m ean our cushion or all our accruals,'' to which

DIM ARIA replied tçBoth.''

On or about M al'ch 9, 201 2, DIM ARIA em ailed Lerner the following instructions

regarding Accounting Firm A : lûcharge ALL THEIR BILLS TO ACCRUED DEAL COST - 1

DON 'T CARE IF THEY COM PLAIN , W E CAN SAY IT W AS A M ISTAKE.''
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On or about M arch 14, 2012, Bankrate Executive 2 asked Lenzer to provide a copy

of the ''cushion'' spreadsheet. Lerner responded writing t'Sent in a separate em ail.. .don't be

sharing this with anyone.''

On or about April 1 1 , 20t 2, DIM ARIA sent Lerner an email writing 1tl need all the

accrual overage - l need to tune the numbers up closer to $38 gmillion in reported earningsl.''

Lerner responded to DIM ARIA by attaching the ttcushion'' spreadsheet and writing ççW e have

$1 .7 million + M lP accrual reversal.''

On or about M ay 14, 2012, DIM ARIA and Lerner signed Bankrate's M anagement

Representation Letter addressed to Accounting Finzl A 's offices in the Southern District of Florida.

On or about July l3, 2012, Lem er sent DIM ARIA an em ail attaching an updated

version of the ttcushion'' spreadsheet.

47. On or about July 31 , 20l 2, DIM ARIA and Bankrate Executive 1 held a conference

call with the investing public where they disctlssed Bankrate's financial performance.

48. On or about August 9, 2012, DIM ARIA sold approxim ately 79,848 shares of

Bankrate stock realizing gross proceeds of approximately $ 1 ,541 ,0 17.

On or about August 10, 2012, DIM ARIA sold approxim ately 26,729 shares of

Bankrate stock realizing gross proceeds of approximately $508,200.

50. On or about August 201 2, DIM ARIA and Lerner signed Bankrate's

M anagem ent Representation Letter addressed to Accounting Firm A 's offices in the Southenz

District of Florida.

On or abottt August 28, 2012, Lerner sent DIM ARIA an em ail attaching a

ttcushion'' spreadsheet.
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52. On or about M arch 1, 2013, DIM ARIA caused Bankrate to file its SEC Form 10-

K reporting its financial results for 20l 2.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 37 l .

CO UNTS 2-4

False Statem ents to Accountants

(17 C.F.R. j 240.13b2-29 15 U.S.C. j 78ff(a))

The General Allegations section of this Indidm ent, as well as the allegations

contained in the Pup ose of the Conspiracy, M anner and M eans of the Conspiracy, and Overt Act

paragraphs of Count l of this lndictm ent, are realleged and incorporated by reference as though

fully set forth herein.

From at least in or around 201 1, through in or around September 2014, in M iam i-

Dade, Broward, and Palm Beach Counties, in the Southenz District of Florida and elsewhere, the

defendant,

EDW ARD J. DIM ARIA,

did knowingly and willfully, directly and indirectly (a) make and cause to be made materially false

and misleading statem ents to Accounting Finu A, and omit to state, and cause another person to

om it to state, any material fact to Accounting Firm A necessary in order to make statements m ade,

in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading,' and (b) take

adion to eoerce, m anipulate, m islead, and fraudulently influence Aecounting Firm A knowing that

such action, if successful, could result in rendering Bankrate's financial statements m aterially

m isleading, in connection with Accounting Firm A 's review of Bankrate's financial statem ents

and preparation of Bankrate's quarterly and annual reports required to be Gled with the SEC, as

m ore particularly described below:
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 Count Defe  ndant Approxim at  eDat e Descripti  on  ofStatem ent

 2   EDW ARD J. Januar   y27,201  2 Electroni  c mail s  ent from Lerne r to

DIM ARIA Accounti  ngFi   nuA i nt  heSouther  nDistrict

 of Flori  da containi  ng  a fals e and

m isleadi  ng descripti   on oft  he activit y in

Bankrate  'saccnl  edde  alcos  tsaccount

 3  EDW ARD  J. M a    y 14,2012 M anageme  ntRepresentati  on Lette rsigned

DIM ARIA  by DIM ARI  A, Lem  er, a  nd other  s,and

addresse  dt oAccounti  ngFirm A  'soffices

i nt  heSouthe  nzDistric  tofFlorida

 4   EDW ARD J. Aug  us   t13,2012 M anagem e  ntRepresentati  on Lette rsigned

DIM ARIA  by DIM ARI  A, Ler  ner, a  nd other  s,and

addresse  d t o Accounti  ng Fir  m A  'soffices

i nt  heSouthe  m Distric  tofFlorida

ln violation of Title 15, United States Code, Section 78ff, and Title 17, Code of Federal

Regulations, Sections 240.13b2-2(a) and 240.l3b2-2(b)', and Title 18, United States Code, Section

cocx'rs s/ 15 bk'
False Entries in a Public Com pany's Books, Records, and Accounts

(17 C.F.R. j 240.13b2-1; 15 U.S.C. jj 78m(b)(5), 78m(b)(2), and 78ff(a))

The General Allegations section of this lndictm ent, as well as the allegations

contained in the Purpose of the Conspiracy, M anner and M eans of the Conspiracy, and Overt Act

paragraphs of Count 1 of this Indictment, are realleged and incorporated by reference as though

fully set forth herein.

From at least in or al-ound 201 1, through in or al-ound September 20 l4, in M iam i-

Dade, Broward, and Palm Beach Counties, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the

defendant,

EDW ARD J. DIM ARIA,
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did knowingly and willfully falsify and cause to be falsified books, records, and accounts required

to, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of Bankrate,

as m ore particularly described below:

Count Defendant Approxim ate Description of Falsified Book, Record,

Date s or Account

5 EDW ARD J. December 20l 1 Approximately $100,000 in ttcushion''
DIM ARIA through September booked to Bankrate's accrued deal costs

2012 account for purported legal expenses

6 EDW ARD J. December 201 1 Approximately $50,000 in ç'cushion''
DIM ARIA through September booked to Bankrate's accrued deal costs

2012 account for purported legal expenses

7 EDW ARD J. February 24, 2012 Approximately $130,000 in accounting
DIM ARIA expense booked to Bankrate's accrued

deal costs account against ttcushion''

8 EDW ARD J. April 1 1, 2012 Approximately $1 80,000 in ççcushion''
DIM ARIA reversed from Bankrate's aftiliate

commissions account in the Credit Cards

division

9 EDW ARD J. April 1 1, 2012 Approximately $50,000 in ''cushion''
DIM ARIA reversed from Bankrate's Em ployee

Federal W ithholding account

10 EDW ARD J. April 13, 2012 Approximately $60,000 in marketing costs
DIM ARIA booked to Bankrate's accnled deal costs

account against çEcushion''

ln violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sedions 78m(b)(2), 78m(b)(5), and 78ff(a);

Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.13b2-1 ; and Title 1 8, United States Code,

Section 2.

COUNT 11
Conspiracy to Com m it Securities Fraud and W ire Fraud

(18 U.S.C. j 1349)

The General Allegations sedion of this lndidm ent, as well as the allegations

contained in the Purpose of the Conspiracy, M anner and M eans of the Conspiracy, and Overt Act
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paragraphs of Count l of this lndictm ent, are realleged and incorporated by reference as though

fully set forth herein.

From at least in or around 201 1 , through in or around September 20 l4, in M iam i-

Dade, Broward, and Palm Beach Counties, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the

defendant,

EDW ARD J. DIM ARIA,

did knowingly, that is, with the intent to further the objectsof the conspiracy, and willingly

combine, conspire, confederate, and agree with others, known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to

commit offenses against the United States, that is:

to knowingly and willfully, and with the intent to defraud, having devised and

intending to devise a schem e and artifice to defraud, and to obtain m oney and propel'ty by means

of m aterially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and prom ises, knowing such

pretenses, representations, and prom ises were false and fraudulent when m ade, transmit and cause

to be transm itted, by m eans of wire com munications in interstate and foreign com merce, writings,

signs, signals, pictures, and sounds, for the purposes of executing such schem e and artifice, in

violation of Title 1 8, United States Code, Section 1343., and

to knowingly and willfully execute a scheme and artifice (1) to defraud any person

in cormection with any security of Bankrate, an issuer with a class of securities registered under

Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. j 780, and (2) to obtain, by means

of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and prom ises, and by statem ents

containing material omissions, any money and property in connection with the purchase and sale

of any security of Bankrate, an issuer with a class of securities registered under Section l 2 of the
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Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (1 5 U.S.C. j 78/), in violation of Title 1 8, United States Code,

Section 1348.

Pprppse of the Conspiracv

The Purpose of the Conspiracy section of Count 1 of this lndictm ent is realleged

and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.

M anner and M eans of the Conspiracv

The M anner and M eans of the Conspiracy section of Count 1 of this lndictm ent is

realleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.

A1l in violation of Title l 8, United States Code, Section 1349.

CO UNT 12
W ire Fraud

(18 U.S.C. j 1343)

The General Allegations section of this lndictm ent, as well as the allegations

contained in the Purpose of the Conspiracy, M anner and M eans of the Conspiracy, and Overt Act

paragraphs of Count 1 of this Indictment, are realleged and incorporated by reference as though

fully set forth herein.

From at least in or around 20l 1 , through in or around September 2014, in M iami-

Dade, Broward, and Palm Beach Counties, in the Southern District of Flolida, and elsewhere, the

defendant,

EDW ARD J. DIM ARIA,

did knowingly and willfully, and with the intent to defraud, devise and intend to devise, a scheme

and artifice to defraud, and to obtain m oney and property by means of m aterially false and

fraudulent pretenses, representations, and prom ises, knowing such pretenses, representations, and

prom ises were false and fraudulent when m ade, and for the purpose of executing such scheme and

artifice to defraud, did knowingly transm it and cause to be transmitted, by means of wire
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comm unication in interstate and foreign comm erce, certain writings, signs, signals, pictures, and

sounds.

Purpose of the Schem e and Artifice

The Purpose of the Conspiracy section of Count 1 of this lndictm ent is realleged

and incop orated by reference as a description of the Purpose of the Schem e and Artifice.

The Schem e and Artifice

The allegations contained in the M anner and M eans of the Conspiracy and Overt

Acts sections of Count l of this lndictment are realleged and incorporated by reference as a

description of the Schem e and Artifice.

Use of the W ires

EDW ARD J. DIM ARIA , for the purpose of executing the aforesaid scheme and

artifice to defraud, did knowingly transmit and cause to be transm itted, by m eans of wire

communications in interstate and foreign com merce, certain writings, signs, signals, pictures and

sounds, to wit, on or about August 28, 2012, DIM ARIA caused to be sent an electronic mail

attaching a ''cushion'' spreadsheet from Hyunjin Lerner in Florida to DIM ARIA in New York.

ln violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections l 343 and 2.

COUNT 13

Securities Fraud

(18 U.S.C. j 1348)

The General Allegations section of this lndictment, as well as the allegations

contained in the Purpose of the Conspiracy, M anner and M eans of the Conspiracy, and Overt Act

paragraphs of Count 1 of this Indictment are realleged and incorporated by reference as though

fully set forth herein.
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From in or around at least 201 1 , through in or around September 2014, in M iami-

Dade, Broward, and Palm Beach Counties, in the Southern District of Florida and elsewhere, the

defendant,

EDW ARD J. DIM ARIA,

did knowingly and willfully execute a scheme and artifice (a) to defraud any person in connection

with any seculity of Bankrate, an issuer with a class of securities registered under Section 12 of

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. j 78/), and (b) to obtain, by means of materially

false and fraudulent pretenses, replesentations, and prom ises, and by statements containing

material om issions, any money and property in connection with the purchase and sale of any

security of Bankrate, an issuer with a class of securities registered under Section 12 of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. j 78/), to wit, DIM ARIA, Lerner, and their co-

conspirators m ade, and caused to be m ade, false and m isleading representations to Bankrate's

shareholders and mem bers of the investing public about Bankrate's true tinancial condition.

In violation of Title l 8, United States Code, Sections l 348 and 2.

FORFEITURE

(18 U.S.C. j 981(a)(1)(C))

The allegations of this lndictm ent are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as

though fully set fol'th herein for the purpose of alleging forfeiture to the United States of certain

property in which the defendant, EDW ARD J. DIM ARIA, has an interest.

Upon conviction of a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 37l , and/or

a violation of, or a conspiracy to violate, Title l 8, United States Code, Sections including 1343,

1348, and, Title 15, United States Code, Section 78ff and, Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations,

Part 240.13b2-2, as alleged in this lndictm ent, the defendant so convicted shall forfeit to the United

States pursuant to Title 1 8, United States Code, Section 98 1(a)(1 )(C) and Title 28, United States
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Code, Section 2461 , a11 property, real or personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds

traceable to the com mission of such violation.

Substitute Assets Provision

lf any of the above desclibed forfeitable property, as a result of any act or omission

of the defendant:

cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;

has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court;

has been substantially diminished in value;

or has been comm ingled with other property which cannot be subdivided

without difficulty;

it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 2 l , United States Code, Section 853(p), made

applicable by Title 28, United States Code, Section 246 1(c), to seek forfeiture of any other property

of said defendant up to the value of the above forfeitable property.
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A11 pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 98l(a)(l)(C) and the provisions of

Title 21, United States Code, Section 853, m ade applicable by Title 28, United States Code,

Section 2461(c).

A TRUE BILL

FOREPERSON

h so ok-
BENJAM IN G. GREENBERG

ACTING UNITED STATES ATTORNEY
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

SANDRA M OSER, ACTING CHIEF

FRAUD SECTION , CRIM INAL DIV N

/
P. VAN DYC , ASSISTANT CH1

EM ILY SCRUGGS, TRIAL ATTORNEY
JASON COV ERT, TRIAL ATTORNEY

FRAUD SECTION, CRIM INAL DIV ISION

U. S. DEPARTM ENT OF JU STICE
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UNITED STATES OF AM ERICA CASE NO.

CERTIFICATE O F TRIAL ATTORNEY.
EDW ARD J. DIM ARIA,

Defendant.
/ Superseding Case Information:

Court Division'. (select one) New Defendantts)
Number of New Defendants

-  
x
-
 

 
M iami Key W est Total number of counts
FTL W PB FTP

I do hereby certify that:

I have carefully considered the allegations of the indictmept, the number of defendants, the number
of probable witnesses and the legal complexities of the lndlctment/lnformation attached hereto.

l am agare that the information supplied on this statement will be relied upon by the Judges of this
Court ln setting their calrndars and scheduling criminal trlals under the mandate of the Speedy Trial
Act, Tltle 28 U.S.C. Sectlon 3 161 .

Interpreter: (Yes qr No) No
Llstlanguage and/or dlalect

This case will take l 5 days for the parties to try.

Please check appropriate category and type of offense listed below:

(Check only one) (Chcck only one)

l 0 to 5 days Petty
11 6 to 10 days M inor
l1l 1 1 to 20 days X M isdem.
IV 2 1 to 60 days Felony
V 6 1 days and over

6 . Has this case been previously tiled in this District Court? (Yes or No) No
lf yes:
Judge: Case No.
(Attach copy of dispositive order)
Has a complaint been filed in thls matter'? (Yes or No) No
lf yej:
M aglstrate Case No.
Related M iscellaneous numbers: - - -

Defendantts) in federal custody as of
Defendantts) in staty cpstody as of
Rule 20 from the Dlstrlct of
ls this a potential death penalty case? (Yes or No) No

Dpes this case originate from a matter pending in the Northern Region of the U . ttorney's Oftice
prlor to October l4, 20037 Yes No

%

E Y P V AN DYCK
DO ASSISTANT CHIEF
FL Bar/court I.D. No. A5501507
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT CO URT

SOUTH ERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Nam e: EDW ARD J. DIM ARIA

Case No:

Count #: 1

Conspiracy to M ake False Statem ents to a Public Companv's Accountants, and to Falsifv a Public

Company's Books, Records. and Accounts of a Public Companv

18 U.S.C. ô 371

* M ax. Penalty'. Five (5) years' imprisonment

Counts #: 2-4

False Statements to a Public Company's Accountants

17 C.F.R. j 240. 13b2-2; 15 U.S.C. k 78ff(a1

*Max. Penalty: Twenty (20) years' imprisonment, as to each count

Counts #: 5-10

False Entries in a Public Companv's Books, Records and Accounts

17 C.F.R. k 240.13b2-1 .' 15 U.S.C. kk 78m(b)(5), 78m(b)(2), and 78ff(a)

*Max. Penalty: Twenty (20) years' imprisonment, as to each count

Count #: 1 1

Conspiracv to Comm it Securities Fraud and W ire Fraud

18 U.S.C. i 1 349

*Max. Penalty: Twenty (20) years' imprisonment

SrRefers only to possible term  of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,

special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.



Case 1:17-cr-20898-MGC Document 1 Entered on FLSD Docket 12/19/2017 Page 31 of 32 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT CO URT
SOUTH ERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Count #: 12

W ire Fraud

*Max. Penalty: Twenty (20) years' imprisonment

Count #: 13

Securities Fraud

18 U.S.C. j 1348

*Max. Penalty: Twenty-Five (25) years' imprisonment

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,

special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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UNITED STA TES DISTRICT COUR T
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUM BER:

BOND RECOM M ENDATION

DEFENDANT: EDW ARD J. DIMARIA

$2,000,000 PSB & $500,000 10%

(Personal Surety) (Corporate Surety) (Cash) (Pre--frial Detention)

By: kV. tw î-
AUSA: HENRY P.VAN DYCK

Last Known Address:

'W hat Facility'.

Agentts): S/A KEVIN TOW ERS
(FBI) (SECRET SERVICE) (DEA) (lRS) (lCE) (OTHER)

U.S. Postal Inspector
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